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or additions to the old and by the encroachment of street and parking requirements as 
in Pitt County and Gaston County. In some cases the courthouse as the focus of the 
townscape is dramatized by placing the courthouse and its landscaped area so as to 
block vision along the town's main street or the roads leading into the county seat. 
The effect of such placement is strikingly illustrated by the siting of the Jackson 
County Courthouse with its ceremonial flight of steps leading up the hillside from the 
end of Sylva's main street. By placing the courthouse so as to block the view along 
the main roads leading into the county seat, the planners were able to create the 
impression that the traveler had arrived at the end of his journey, that this building 
was what the county's seat of government and justice was all about This kind of siting 
is used in Chatham, Columbus, and Lincoln counties. In rural and thinly populated 
counties such as Currituck, Avery, Stokes, and Rockingham the courthouse was set along 
the main highway and supporting structures grew up across the road or were irregularly 
sited to the rear and sides of the courthouse. The courthouse, clearly the most impor­
tant building in the county seat, is the key to the existence of these towns. Without 
it, they would only be a collection of buildings at the side of the road to somewhere 
else. 

The present trend in courthouse siting, however, is away from the historical 
placement of the courthouse in a special open place. Governed by a combination of 
economics and convenience, commissioners are selecting new and larger sites outside 
the center of town for their new county courthouses. As county services are increased, 
demands for space grow, and users of the courthouse require convenient parking for 
their automobiles, the commissioners are abandoning the older buildings and downtown 
locations and following the lead of businesses out beyond the central business district 
to build contemporary, low-profile county government complexes. This removal of the 
courthouse as the focus of the urban townscape represents a diminution of the town's 
historic character and the negation of its raison d'etre. 
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The county courthouse in North Carolina is perhaps the most significant single 
governmental building; throughout most of the state's history, North Carolina has been 
an overwhelmingly rural place, where the county, not the to~is a dominant center of 
power and law. The county seat town is nearly always the major town, with its focus 
the courthouse. As a symbolic force and a functional center for community activity, 
the courthouse is without peer in North Carolina The architecture of county courthouses 
reflects this importance, and in all but a few urban counties, the courthouse is often 
the grandest, most architectonic, and largest building from the county's history 
Centrally located, often distinguished by a cupola or dome and imposing portico, the 
courthouse expressed in forceful terms its pivotal role in the community. Viewed as a 
group, the courthouses of North Carolina from the pre-Revolutionary period to the 1930s 
display remarkable continuity; the significance of each is enhanced by its context in 
the group as a whole. Throughout the entire group runs a unifying thread of classicism 
restraint, and dignity appropriate to the role of the courthouse as a "temple of justice .. " 
This character undergoes various permutations from period to period, region to region, 
anq architect to architect, creating identifiable clusters of related buildings The 
temple-form buildings of the mid-nineteenth century for example, such as the already­
nominated Northampton and Orange County courthouses were the most literal versions of 
this concept. In the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, certain architects 
enjoyed the favors of county building committees and produced notable bodies of work. 
The B. F. Smith Firepro0f Building Company worked in an unpretentiously picturesque 
Italianate mode; the firm of Milburn and Heister of Washington, D.C. worked for decades 
in an increasingly sophisticated Beaux-Arts Neo-Classical vocabulary; Greensboro 
architect Harry Barton worked in a suave Beaux-Arts character; and Wheeler and various 
associates of Charlotte produced a number of distinctive Neo-Classical courthouses in 
western counties. In the 1930s, classicism continued in the tradition-based Neo-
Colonial mode and in a modernized version as well. Each of the courthouses nominated is 
significant architecturally and historically in its own right; beyond this, as recognized 
in the nomination of the entire group of North Carolina courthouses eligible for the 
National Register, these buildings are a totality of great architectural symbolic, and 
historical importance to the state. 

Criteria assessment: (A) The courthouse in each county has been associated for however 
long it has stood with the broad patterns of county life, as 
the center of the local county political process the 
administration of justice, and a social and cultural focal 
point. On a statewide basis, the courthouses have been the 
subsidiary outlets of political processes and the law. 
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(B) The courthouses are associated with the political leaders and outstanding 
as well as undistinguished lawyers, judges, county officials of each county. 
Typically, when important people visit the county they visit the courthouse. 
Most courthouses were designed by well-known architects or builders of the 
period. Specific information on inventory sheets. 

(C) The courthouse nearly always represents the most ambitious architectural 
undertaking of its period and place, and in sequence represent the conservative 
interpretations of the successive styles popular in the nation and region, 
thus embodying distinctive characteristics of types, periods, and methods of 
construction. 

In addition, the courthouses individually vary from having great architectural 
merit and historical significance to being relatively undistinguished. However, 
they do as a group "represent a significant and distinguishable entity,1I as 
vital in their totality to the architectural and political history of the state. 
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Almost from the time of its inception, the county has functioned as the chief unit 
of local government in North Carolina, and the county courthouse has been the physical 
and symbolic embodiment of local government and justice. In 1663 King Charles II of 
England granted to eight lords proprietors a portion of land which included what is now 
the state of North Carolina In 1669 these men adopted the Fundamental Constitutions 
prepared by the philosopher John Locke which established a plan for the government of 
the provice. Although the Fundamental Constitutions were not a success in proprietary 
North Carolina, they did provide the basis for the later county court system by creating 
precinct courts which were responsible for the judicial and governmental functions of 
precincts throughout the colony Under the precinct system there were no courthouses 
for many years. Rather the courts usually met in a private home, often in the home of 
a litigant. Then in 1722, the colonial assembly passed an act that established the 
precinct courts at definite places and authorized the justices of each precinct to 
purchase an acre of land and build a courthouse 

In 1728 seven of the eight lords proprietors sold their interests in North Carolina 
to the king, but local government still remained in the hands of precinct officials. In 
1738, however, the assembly passed an act

3
by which the precincts became counties and 

the precinct courts became county courts. 

From Colonial times until 1868, the main power of county government rested with the 
justices of the county courts. As one authority on county government has pointed out, 
"when sitting as a county court the justices not only exercised judicial functions, but 
performed the services now performed by the board of county commissioners, and, in 
addition, certain duties which grew out of the conditions of the time • ." Among the duties 
assumed by the justices was the responsibility for insuring the construction and main­
tenance of public buildings, mainly jails and courthouses. The new state constitution 
of 1868 created a new plan for county government known as the township and County 
Commissioner Plan. Under this scheme the governmental and administrative powers and 
duties which had been the function of the county court then passed to a board of five 
county commissioners who were elected by the voters of the county Thus the responsi­
bility for building and maintaining courthouses a~d jails was transferred to the county 
commissioners who still bear that responsibility. 

Early courthouses in North Carolina were usually small buildings which contained a 
courthouse, jury room, and sometimes the jail. As the responsibilities and population 
of the counties increased, the buildings were enlarged to include the offices of 
administrative officials and to provide storage for the increasing volume of county 
records 

The location of the county seat has always been a major consideration among county 
inhabitants. For the most part, the county seats have been located near the geographical 
center of the county and usually near an important road c~ossing. 
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Courthouses have not, however, always been located in a county's largest town. This 
may have been because the change in transportation systems (such as the transition to 
railroads) or economic conditions drew trade to rival towns. Also the type of people 
who attached themselves to county seats, lawyers, politicians, officeholders, and ex­
officeholders--some of whom drew their sustenance from the public purse and were not 
interested in industrial development--frequently were not devoted to the physical and 
economic growth of a community. But in most cases, towns have sought the establishment 
of the county seat as a way of increasing prosperity and drawing trade and recognition. 
Rivalries have often developed between towns seeking to have the county choose their 
location as the site for a courthouse. In the early twentieth century, in fact, the 
merchants and leaders of a few towns made sizeable financial contributionssto the 
building of courthouses in order to have them placed in their communities. 

Today it is left to the discretion of the county commissioners as to whether an 
existing building should be repaired or a new one built, but they frequently accept the 
advice of an architect. They are subject to indictment by the county grand jury if they 
fail to insure the existence of a courthouse that is sufficient for conducting the 
business of the county The commissioners also decide what the cost and dimensions of 
a new structure may be, and they are empowered to raise taxes in order to finance its 
construction. But the state legislature may prescribe the limits of expenditure or 
impose other specifications or restrictions, and the commissioners must abide by these 
instructions. 

In order to encourage the construction of new and better courthouses the legislature 
in 1923 passed a supplementary act authorizing county commissioners "to issue bonds or 
notes for the purpose of borrowing money with which to erect, build, construct, alter, 
and repair and improve courthogses and jails, and to purchase the necessary equipment and 
furniture to be sued therein." This stimulated courthouse construction, as witnessed 
in the many built in the 1920s Since that time many counties have used this means to 
finance new courthouses, and presently they may also apply for federal aid in construction 

Throughout North Carolina's history the county courthouse has been more than a seat 
for dispensing local justice. Traditionally it has housed the records of the citizens 
and the offices of the agencies which carry out the day-to-day duties of running the 
county. In the past it has also been a gathering place for social functions, political 
meetings, and a place to corne in time of an emergency. It has stood for many years as 
a symbol of local government, an institution which, according to some authorities, is 
vital to the welfare of a state's inhabitants. As one authority, Paul Woodford Wager, 
has written, "there ought to be some unit of local government small enough to permit 
acquaintance among the citizens." He further points out that "in naming the counties 
and county seats, the state has honored many of its 'favorite sons lll and "to read the 
list of counties is to read the names of the men in North Carolina's Hall of Fame. 
For these reasons the residents of North Carolina have always identified with the county 
courthouse both as a part of their everyday lives and a symbol of their heritage. 
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RICHMOND COUNTY COURTHOUSE 

Historical Sketch 

Richmond County was formed in 1779 from Anson, and its first courthouse 
was built in 1780 in Rockingham (then called Richmond Court House) ~lis 

building was removed in 1884 to make room for a new one 1 

In 1921 the Richmond County Commissioners chose a site for a new court­
house on Main street in Rockingham. They authorized the issuance of $20,000 
in bonds to pay for the new facility which was completed in 1922-23 Charles 
C. Hook of Charlotte was the architect and J. P. Little and Son of Charlotte 
was the contractor 2 

Architectural Description· 

The Richmond County Courthouse is a stately Renaissance Revival building 
located on the edge of Rockingham's commercial district. Built in 1922, the 
ashlar veneered building is composed of a three-story central pavilion flanked 
by two-story wings. The main block contains a hexastyle in antis portico 
set between rusticated end bays pierced by round arched openings filled with 
paired windows. The third story, treated as an attic, is clearly distinguished 
from the main block by a plain entablature. Three entrances are centered 
behind the portico. They are contained in tall openings and are richly 
ornamented with guilloche bands and geqmetric transom grillese The two-story 
wings are flat roofed and contain linteled windows above the round arched 
ones. 

The courthouse was meant to be visible on all sides, therefore the 
identical side elevations are continuations of the main facade scheme. A 
recessed entrance supported by two columns divides series of roqnd arched 
openings. The entablature continues around these elevations, and quoins 
define the corners of the building. 

The interior presents a thorough and consistent integration of classical 
motifs into the otherwise undecorated spaces. The antechamber, which is open 
to the second floor, serves as a transition from the portico to the offices 
and cross halls which lie beyond~ The plaster walls are punctuated by 
pilasters which carry a three-part dentil cornice. Stairs with iron railings 
rise from the main hall to a second floor landing which is open to the 
antechamber 

The courtrooms, located on the second floor, have been modernized, but 
without destroying the original appearance of these chambers. The classical 

1 Powell, North Carolina Gazetteer, pp. 413, 420; Olds, Story of the 
Counties, p. 52. 

2Richrnond County, Minutes of Board of County Commissioners, August 1, 
November 7, 1921, May 3, 1922. 



Richmond County Courthouse 

theme is evident in the furnishings of the courtrooms; light fixtures, 
transom grilles balustrudes, and judge's benches are ornamented with 
classical motifs 

2 

The elegant and sophisticated Richmond County Courthouse reflects the 
exceptional architectural quality of Rockingham's early twentieth century 
public and commercial buildings, which are physical reminders of a period 
of prosperity and expansion 

Address: J. Richard Conder. Chairman, Richmond County Commi oners. 
Richmond County Courthouse, Rockingham, N,C. 28379 

Acr~age: less than one acre 
UTM references Latitude: 36

0
23'54" Longitude: 79

0
46 1 13" 

Verbal Boundary DescriptioNs The courthouse is bounded to the north by 
Franklin st p to the south by parking and a new courthouse addition, 

the we by Lee st •• and to the east by Hancock St 
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